THE BIOACTIVITY OF SAPONINS: TRITERPENOID AND STEROIDAL GLYCOSIDES

A.V. Rao* and D.M. Gurfinkel

Department of Nutritional Sciences, University of Toronto, 150 College St., Toronto ON, Canada M5S 3E2

CONTENTS

Summary

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Chemistry of saponins
- 3. Metabolism of saponins
- 4. Saponins and cardiovascular disease
- 5. Saponins and cancer
- 6. Saponins and liver function
- 7. Saponins and hypoglycemic activity
- 8. Saponins and the immune system
- 9. Saponins and the central nervous system
- 10. Saponins and antioxidant activity
- 11. Saponins and anti-inflammatory activity
- 12. Concluding remarks

References

^{*}Author for correspondence: e-mail: v.rao@utoronto.ca

SUMMARY

Triterpenoid and steroidal glycosides, referred to collectively as saponins, are bioactive compounds present naturally in many plants. They have considerable potential as pharmaceutical and/or nutraceutical agents in natural or synthetic form. Saponins, from a variety of sources, have been shown to have hypocholesterolemic, anticoagulant, anticarcinogenic, hepatoprotective, hypoglycemic, immunomodulatory, neuroprotective, anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant activity. This paper reviews saponin research of the last decade, focussing on developments in understanding their mechanism of action and structure-activity relationships. Virtually all of this work has used animal and *in vitro* models. To date there are very few human data.

KEY WORDS

saponins, triterpenoid glycosides, steroidal glycosides, hypocholesterolemic activity, anti-coagulation, anticarcinogen, hepatoprotection, hypoglycemic activity, immunomodulation, neuroprotection, antiinflammatory activity, anti-oxidant activity

1. INTRODUCTION

Triterpenoid and steroidal glycosides, referred to collectively as saponins, are bioactive compounds. Saponins are found in many plantderived foods, the most concentrated source being legumes /1/. The dietary intake for saponins has been estimated at 15 to 240 mg daily, depending on the amount and type of legumes consumed /2/. Saponins are also present in many medicinal plants, such as ginseng, and likely play a role in their bioactivity. The potential of saponins as pharmaceutical and/or nutraceutical agents, in natural or synthetic form, has stimulated much of the research described below. Saponins have been shown to have hypocholesterolemic, anti-coagulant, anticarcinogenic, hepatoprotective, hypoglycemic, immunomodulatory, neuroprotective, anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant activity, in animal and in vitro models. To date there are very few human data. This paper reviews saponin research of the last decade, focussing on developments in understanding their mechanism of action and structure-activity relationships.

2. CHEMISTRY OF SAPONINS

Saponins are triterpenoid or steroidal glycosides. A detailed treatment of the chemistry of saponins is beyond the scope of this review and the reader is directed to the excellent work by Hostettman and Marston for more information /3/. Saponins are generally named after the plant from which they were first isolated, e.g. ginsenosides from ginseng; soyasaponins from soybeans. Saponins contain both lipophilic and hydrophilic groups. The lipophilic group is either a triterpenoid or steroidal moiety, referred to as the aglycone or sapogenin. Attached to the sapogenin are hydrophilic sugars. There are many variations in the nature of the sapogenin. Ginseng saponins, for example, are derived from two steroidal sapogenins, one diol, protopanaxadiol, and, one triol, protopanaxatriol. There is also considerable variation in the number and type of sugars present and the manner in which they are attached to the sapogenin. The triterpenoid soyasaponins, for example, are divided into two groups, one in which sugars are attached only to carbon 3 of the triterpenoid moiety and one in which sugars are attached at both carbon 3 and carbon 22. Saponins with sugars attached to only one carbon are referred to as monodesmosides, while bisdesmosides have attachment at two carbons.

3. METABOLISM OF SAPONINS

Some work has been done on the metabolism of orally-ingested saponins /4-6/. The saponins are modified by gut microflora. Sugars are hydrolyzed, leaving, as the major metabolites, the sapogenin or a saponin with fewer sugars than the original material. In many animal studies, saponins were administered by intravenous, subcutaneous, or intraperitoneal injection rather than orally. The biological significance of saponin metabolites is poorly understood.

4. SAPONINS AND CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

The role of saponins in the prevention of cardiovascular disease has been recently reviewed. Saponins decreased blood cholesterol levels /7-9/, decreased blood coagulation /7/ and reduced lipid peroxide formation in cardiac muscle and liver /7/.

Hypocholesterolemic effects

The steroidal saponins from fenugreek /10/ and alfalfa /11/ lowered serum cholesterol levels in animals. Several studies suggested this effect was due to decreased absorption of cholesterol, observed as increased fecal neutral steroids /11-13/. Increased excretion of bile acids was also observed in some studies /11,13/.

Synthetic saponins have also been investigated. Tiqueside, the synthetic saponin beta-tigogenin cellobioside, reduced non-HDL cholesterol levels in various animal species /14/. This effect was linked to a decrease in intestinal cholesterol absorption, and a reduction in hepatic cholesterol levels with compensating increases in hepatic HMG-CoA reductase activity and hepatic LDL-receptor levels. No effect on bile acid metabolism was observed.

Similar effects occurred in human studies of hypercholesterolemic patients treated with tiqueside /15/. Decreased serum LDL cholesterol levels, linked to decreased cholesterol absorption and increased fecal neutral sterol excretion, were observed. Fecal fat, bile acid excretion and fat-soluble vitamin absorption were unchanged.

Modification of the steroid portion of tiqueside, i.e. the conversion of tigogenin cellobioside to 11-ketotigogenin cellobioside (pamaqueside) enhanced potency by a factor of ten. The further modification of the hydroxyl groups on the cellobiose, to form a 4",6"-bis[(2-fluorophenyl)carbamoyl] derivative resulted in a compound that increased the cholesterol absorption inhibitory effect by a factor of over 2000 /16/.

A detailed investigation of the mechanism by which pamaqueside and tiqueside inhibited cholesterol absorption suggested a non-stoichiometric mechanism, i.e. a mechanism other than the formation of a 1:1 cholesterol:saponin complex observed experimentally *in vitro*. Ratios of neutral sterol excreted to pamaqueside administered averaged approximately 5:1, while ratios in tiqueside-treated rabbits were less than 1, consistent with its 1/10 potency relative to pamaqueside. Other mechanisms, such as interaction with cholesterol in the cell membrane, micellar exclusion of cholesterol, or inhibition of enzymes involved in lipid absorption, are inconsistent with available data. It was suggested that these saponins acted by a novel mechanism possibly involving a putative cholesterol transporter /17/.

Anti-coagulant activity

Saponins from Acanthopanax gracilistylus var. pubescens Li /18/, steroidal saponins from several Allium plants /19/, and various ginsenosides /21,22/ inhibited blood coagulability. Possible mechanisms included increased synthesis of urinary-type and tissue-type plasminogen activator /20/ and increased platelet activating factor antagonist activity /21/.

Other effects

Studies suggested that tenuifolic saponin /22/ and tea-leaf saponins /23/ reduced hypertension. Ginsenosides from the protopanaxatriol group, but not from the protopanaxadiol group, enhanced the release of nitric oxide from endothelial cells, possibly via activation of tetraethylammonium-sensitive K⁺-channels /24,25/. Both groups of saponins protected myocardial cells from oxidative damage /26/. Panax notoginseng saponins suppressed the hypocholesterolemic serum-induced cell proliferation of arterial smooth muscles in vitro /27/ and enhanced the electrophysiological properties of cardiac muscles /28,29/. Saponins from American ginseng, Panax quinque-folium, improved serum lipid profiles and reduced LDL oxidation /30/.

5. SAPONINS AND CANCER

Many saponins display anti-carcinogenic activity and research in this area has been recently reviewed /31/.

Anticarcinogenic activity of triterpenoid saponins

Antiprofilerative triterpene saponins were isolated from *Treveria palmata* /32/. Majonoside R2 from Vietnamese ginseng inhibited the growth of chemically-induced skin cancer in mice /33/. Anti-tumour promoting activity was observed by soyasaponin I, afromosin, gleditsiasaponin C and gymnocladussaponin G /34/. Soyasaponins inhibited the growth and viability of colon carcinoma cells in culture /35/. Electron micrographs revealed that cells treated with 600 ppm or more of soybean saponins developed numerous cytoplasmic vesicles, had decreased density of cytoplasmic material and had deformed plasma and nuclear membranes /36/. Soyasaponins also inhibited the

development of aberrant crypt foci, precursor lesions of colon cancer, in azoxymethane-treated mice /37/.

Structure-activity relationship studies suggested that the nature of the sugar moiety was very important to cytotoxic activity. One survey of 16 triterpenoid saponins found monodesmosides more active than bisdesmosides in killing cancer cells /38/, while another report noted that different sugar moieties influenced the rate of cytotoxic effects /39/. The licorice root saponin, glycyrrhizin, suppressed liver and lung tumours, while its sapogenin, glycyrrhetinic acid, suppressed mouse skin tumour formation in animal models /40/.

Anticarcinogenic activity of steroidal saponins

Many steroidal saponins have been shown to suppress the growth of cancer cells *in vitro*. Furcreastatin, isolated from the leaves of *Furcraea foetida*, decreased the viability of mutant p53 over-expressing mouse fibroblasts /41/. Steroidal saponins from *Diocorea coiletti* were cytotoxic against the cancer cell line K52 /42/. Cytostatic activity of saponins from several sources in leukemia HL-60 cells has also been reported /43-45/. Tubeimoside 1 induced differentiation of HL-60 cells to more mature cells with the functional characteristics of granulocytes /46/. A primary screening test for anti-tumor-promoter compounds measured the ability of saponins to inhibit the incorporation of ³²P into the phospholipids of HeLa cells, a reaction stimulated by tumour-promoter 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbor-13 acetate. Saponins from several sources demonstrated this activity /47-52/.

The most thoroughly studied of the anticarcinogenic saponins are the ginsenosides and most mechanistic studies involved these saponins. Ginsenosides Rh2 inhibited the growth of human ovarian cancer in nude mice /53/, and antitumour activity of ginseng intestinal metabolites in mouse melanoma cells /54/ and in four other cancer cell lines was reported /55/.

Ginsenosides Rh1 and Rh2 inhibited cellular proliferation in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. This was due to the inhibitory effects of the saponins on phospholipase C which in turn reduced intracellular protein kinase C activity /56/. Ginsenosides induced differentiation in F9 teratocarcinoma cells by increasing the nuclear translocation of glucocorticoid receptor /57/, the ginsenosides being structurally similar to glucocorticoid hormone. The differentiation of HL-60 cells into granulocytes by ginsenosides Rh2 and Rh3 was linked to modulation

of PKC isoform levels, specifically increased beta and gamma isoform levels with prolonged treatment /58/.

Ginsenoside treatment, specifically ginsenoside-Rg5 /59/ and ginsenoside-Rh2 /60-62/, induced the cell cycle arrest of B16 melanoma cells, BALB/c 3T3, A31-1-1 and A31-1-13 murine cell lines /62/, MCF-7 human breast cancer cells /61/, and SK-HEP-1 cells /59,60/. This arrest was reported in G1 /61,62/ or at the G1/S transition phase /59.60/ and was linked to down-regulation of cyclin D3 and upregulation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 WAFI/CIPI /61/, down-regulation of cyclin-dependent kinase-2 activity /62/, and upregulation of p27Kip1 and down-regulation of cyclin E-dependent kinase activity /59,60/. This cell cycle arrest was found in some studies to ultimately lead to induction of apoptosis. Ginsenoside Rs4 initiated cell cycle arrest at the G1/S boundary and consequently induced apoptosis by upregulation of protein levels of p53 and p21WAF1 in SK-HEP-1 cells /63/. Ginsenoside-Rs3 was found to induce cell cycle arrest at low concentrations and to induce apoptosis at higher doses /64/. Ginsenoside-Rh2 induced apoptosis in SK-HEP-1 cells /65/ and C6 gliomal cell line /66/, in both cases by a capasedependent but Bcl-2 /65/ and Bcl-X_L /66/ insensitive mechanism.

Anti-metastatic activity

In vitro studies of tumour metastasis demonstrated 20(R)- and 20(S)-ginsenoside-Rg 3 inhibited adhesion of B-16-BL6 melanoma fibronectin and laminin and inhibited invasion of B16-BL6 cells into a reconstituted basement membrane /67/. In a similar cell monolayer model, 20(R)-ginsenoside-Rg suppressed the invasion of cells induced by 1-oleoyl-lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) by inhibiting the LPA-triggered rise of intracellular calcium /68/.

Intravenous injection of ginsenosides inhibited lung metastasis in mice by B16-BL6 melanoma and colon 26-M3 tumour cells, linked to inhibition of adhesion and invasion of tumour cells and to antiangiogenic activity /67/. Bombesin-enhanced peritoneal metastasis by AOM-induced intestinal adenocarcinomas in rats was inhibited by subcutaneous injections of ginsenoside Rg2 /69/. Orally administered ginsenoside Rb1, Rb2, and Rc also inhibited metastasis in animal models /54,70/ but these ginsenosides were ineffective *in vitro*. This suggested that the bioactive component was the intestinal metabolite 20-O-beta-D-glucopyranosyl 20-(S)-protopanaxadiol to which all

orally-ingested ginsenosides were converted. Subsequent studies demonstrated that animals that lacked the ability to convert ginsenoside Rb1 into its metabolite had the least anti-metastatic protection /70/.

Anti-mutagenic activity

Several studies indicated that saponins ameliorate the deleterious effects of toxic substances. Alpha-hederin induced metabolic enzymes which inactivated doxorubicin /71/. Ginseng intestinal metabolites reduced the frequency of chromosome aberration induced by benzo[a] pyrene /72/. Saikosaponin a and ginsenoside Rb1 reduced the mutagenicity of 2-(2-furyl)-3-(5-nitro-2-furyl) acrylamide in a *Salmonella* mutagenicity assay, by enhancing DNA repair /73/. Soyasaponins suppressed the genotoxic activity of 2-acetoxyacetyl-aminofluorene /74/.

6. SAPONINS AND LIVER FUNCTION

Many saponins exerted hepatoprotective effects in both *in vitro* models using cultured rat hepatocytes and animal models, using rats or mice. Liver injury was typically induced with agents such as carbon tetrachloride or galactosamine and the activity of enzymes such as glutamic pyruvic transaminase (GPT), glutamic oxaloacetic transaminase (GOT), or alanine aminotransferase (ALT) was measured. The activity of these enzymes increased during injury. When their activity was reduced in the presence of saponins, hepatoprotection was indicated.

Using this experimental approach, the following saponins showed hepatoprotective effects: total red ginseng saponins /75/, ginsenoside Ro /76/, kudzusaponin SA3 /77/, soyasaponin I /77,78/, kaikasaponin III /78/, saponins from notoginseng /79/, saponins from American ginseng /80/, and oleanene-glucuronides from various sources /81-85/.

Alpha-hederin injected subcutaneously was shown to have hepato-protective effects in mice by increasing the levels of nonenzymatic antioxidant components in the liver, such as glutathione, metallothionein, zinc and copper /86/.

Several studies have linked the hepatoprotective effects of alphahederin to suppression of the activity of cytochrome P450 enzymes

/87-90/. Sapindoside B also suppressed cytochrome P450 levels /90/. Ginsenoside Rd had a very weak inhibitory effect on the activity of CYP3A4, CYP2D6, CYP2C19, and CYP2C9, while ginsenoside Rc increased the activity of CYP2C9 and ginsenoside Rf produced an increase in CYP3A4 activity /91/. Total saponins from Vietnamese ginseng increased the content of cytochrome P450 isoforms with M_r of 57 kDa and 54 kDa in rat liver microsomes/92/.

Structure-activity relationships

Hepatoprotective effects were observed for several oleanene-glucuronides /81,82/. Studies of these oleanene glucuronides suggested that the presence of the hydroxymethyl group on galactose units /81/, the presence of an hydroxyl group at C-5" of the sugar moiety, and beta orientation of the hydroxyl group at C-21 of the sapogenin enhanced hepatoprotection, while a hydroxyl group at C-30 of the sapogenin reduced hepatoprotection /82/. The presence of a carbonyl group was equivalent to a hydroxyl group at C-22 of the sapogenin in terms of hepatoprotective action /83/. Sugar moieties were important for the hepatoprotective effects of soyasaponins. Disaccharide groups showed greater protective action than trisaccharide groups and saponins with hexosyl units were more active the pentosyl units /84/. The linkage between sapogenin and glucuronic acid also enhanced hepatoprotection /85/.

7. SAPONINS AND HYPOGLYCEMIC ACTIVITY

Several saponins have hypoglycemic activity. This activity was generally measured in animal models by an oral glucose tolerance test. Often hyperglycemia or diabetes was chemically induced in the animals. *In vitro*, typical analysis involved measuring the uptake of tritiated deoxy-2-glucose by cells in culture. Using these experimental approaches, saponins from the following sources have demonstrated hypoglycemic activity: *Kalopanax pictus* /93/, Tonburi, the fruit of Japanese *Kochia scoparia* (L) Scchrad /94/, the leaves of *Gymnema sylvestre* /95,96/ and *Gymnema inodorum* /97/, sugar beet /98/, Senegae Radix /99,100/; Taranome, the young shoot of *Aralia elata* Seem /101/, the root cortex of *Aralia elata* Seem /102,103/ and the leaves of *Acanthopanax senticosus* /104/. Two steroidal glycosides

from *Polygonati rhizoma*, PO-1 and PO-2, /105/, triterpenoids escins la, lb, IIa, IIb /106,107/, christinin A isolated from the Egyptian folk medicine Zizphus /108/, and pseudoprototimosaponin AIII and prototimosaponin AIII from rhizomes of *Anemarrhena asphodeloides* also had similar activity /109/.

A ginseng extract containing saponins stimulated glucose uptake in sheep erythrocytes, in vitro, while ginsenoside Rg3, chikusetsusaponin la and glycyrrhetic acid inhibited glucose uptake /110/. It was suggested that this inhibition may play a mechanistic role in the cytotoxic and antiviral activity of some saponins /111/. Studies on escins /112/ and saponins from Gymnema inodorum /97/ suggested that the saponins' hypoglycemic activity was due to inhibition of glucose absorption from the gut. Escin also slowed gastric emptying and accelerated gastrointestinal transit /113/. Hypoglycemic pseudoprototimosaponin AIII and prototimosaponin AIII appeared to have no effect on glucose uptake or insulin release and the authors suggested that inhibition of hepatic gluconeogenesis and/or glycogenolysis may play a role /109/. Investigation of christinin A in diabetic rats suggested a similar mechanism. The saponin reduced liver phosphorylase and glucose-6-phosphatase activity and increased liver glycogen levels. This saponin also appeared to have a stimulatory effect on the pancreas, increasing pancreatic cAMP and serum insulin levels /108/. Platycodin D, a saponin from the root of Platycodon grandiflorum, stimulated pancreatic exocrine secretion /114/.

Several structure-activity relationships have been studied. Saponins from *Kalopanax pictus*, kalopanaxsaponin B and H, showed no anti-diabetic activity, while their metabolites, partially-hydrolyzed kalopanaxsaponin A and sapogenin hederagenin, demonstrated hypoglycemic effects in animal studies /93/. On the other hand, glucose-containing steroidal saponins PO-1 and PO-2 were more potent than the steroid sapogenin diosgenin /105/. Desacylescin I and II were inactive while escin la, lb, IIa, and IIb had hypoglycemic activity /106/.

8. SAPONINS AND THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

Saponins have immunomodulatory activity.

Saponins and ISCOMs

Saponins from quillaja have been incorporated into immunostimulating complexes (ISCOMs), open cage structures with a 40 nm diameter, built up by cholesterol, lipid, immunogen and quillaja saponins. These ISCOMs promoted antibody responses, induced T helper cells, and cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses /115/. Structure activity studies suggested that more lipophilic saponins (i.e. less glycosylation and longer fatty acyl units) enhance adjuvant activity /I16/. Different quillaja saponin fractions, obtained by reverse-phase HPLC, differed in their responses. The QH-A fraction, for example, stimulated proinflammatory cytokines and primary antibody and T-cell responses, while QH-C mediated a potent booster effect, causing a high secondary antibody response /117/.

Saponins and anti-viral activity

Several saponins have been shown to have antiviral activity. *In vitro* studies demonstrated that soyasaponin II inhibited the replication of several viruses including HIV type I /I18/. Tubeimoside 1, a triterpenoid saponin, also had inhibitory action on the infection of HIV-1 isolates /119/. Gleditsia saponin C and gymnocladus saponin G also inhibited HIV replication. Structure-activity studies suggest that the monoterpenyl moieties present in these saponins are essential to their anti-viral activity /120/. Triterpenoid saponins from *Calendula arvensis* inhibited the replication of vesicular stomatitis virus and rhinovirus *in vitro* /121/. Tea-seed saponins inactivated several human type A and B influenza viruses /122/.

Other effects

Tea-leaf saponins, tea-seed saponins, ginsenosides, soyasaponins and saikosaponins activated neutrophils *in vitro*, by a protein kinase C-mediated mechanism /123/. Timosaponin E1 and E2, two steroidal saponins, also activated superoxide generation in neutrophils /124/. Several triterpenoid saponins inhibited histamine release *in vitro* /125-

127/. Tea-leaf saponins suppressed experimentally-induced asthma in guinea-pigs and rats /128/.

9. SAPONINS AND THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

Ginseng saponins have demonstrated neuroprotective effects against many neurotoxic agents. In rats scopolamine-induced cognitive impairment was ameliorated by ginsenosides Rgl and Re through an increase in choline acetyltransferase activity /129/. Similar effects of ginsenosides on acetyl choline metabolism were found using mice /130/ and in in vitro models /131/. Majonosides R2, a major constituent of Vietnamese ginseng, attenuated the effects of morphine /132/ and psychological stress /133/ in animal studies. Ginsenoside Rgl also inhibited the effects of morphine on mice /134/. Both ginsenosides Rb1 and Rg1 inhibited methamphetamine-induced hyperactivity in mice, by reducing dopamine receptor supersensitivity /135/. A similar mechanism accounted for inhibitory effects of total ginseng saponins on nicotine-induced hyperactivity /136/. Ginsenoside Rb1 reduced the impact of cerebral ischemia induced in rats /137/ and gerbils /138/. It also prevented apoptosis induced by serumdeprivation, in cultured cortical neurons /139/. Ginseng saponins also ameliorated ethanol-induced reduction of brain growth in neonatal rat pups /140/.

10. SAPONINS AND ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITY

Saponins from several sources have demonstrated antioxidant activity. Soyasaponins with a 2,3-dihydro-2,5-dihydroxy-6-methyl-4H-pyran-4-one (DDMP) moiety have antioxidant activity /141/. These soyasaponins, as well as soyasaponins I and soyasaponin Ab, inhibited damage to mouse fibroblasts by hydrogen peroxide /142/. Soyasaponin I decreased the free radical content of rat myocardiocytes induced by xanthine and xanthine oxidase /143/. Alpha-hederin protected against hydrogen peroxide-mediated DNA damage in HepG2 cells in culture. Free-radical scavenging and enhancement of catalase activity were two identified mechanisms /144/. Ginsenosides exerted protective effects against induced free radical damage in cultured endothelial cells /145/. Several animal studies demonstrated that

ginsenosides reduced oxidative damage to heart muscle /146-148/. Panaxadiol ginsenosides enhanced superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity /147/. Ginsenoside Rb2 was also a major inducer of SOD1 and catalase /149/. Ginsenoside Rb2 induced SOD1 through induction of transcription factor AP2 binding sites /150/. Ginsenosides Rb1 and Rg1 were also found to inhibit lipid peroxidation in rats, by increasing catalase and glutathione peroxidase activity. They, however, had no effect on superoxide dismutase /151/.

11. SAPONINS AND ANTI-INFLAMMATORY ACTIVITY

Several studies have demonstrated the anti-inflammatory activity of triterpenoid saponins /152,153/ and steroidal saponins /153/. The anti-inflammatory activity of escins la, lb, IIa, IIb were investigated using carrageenan paw-induced edema. Acyl groups were essential to their activity. Escins lb, IIa and IIb with either a 21-angeloyl group or a 2'O-xylopyranosyl moiety showed more potency than escin Ia which had both moieties /154/. The anti-inflammatory activity of saponins of Argania spinosa /155/ and saikosaponins /156/ was explained by their inhibitory effect on leukotriene activity. Tea-leaf saponin also antagonized the action of leukotriene D4 and inhibited the activity of hyaluronidase, an enzyme involved in inflammatory reactions /157/. Anti-inflammatory activity of saponins from Panax notoginseng was linked to decreased intracellular levels of free calcium in neutrophils, decreased dinoprostone, and decreased phospholipase A2 activity /158/. Two oleanolic acid glucuronides with C₆H₉O₅ and C₉H₁₅O₂ substituents at the C-3 position of glucuronic acids exhibited a sialyl mimetic structure and inhibited excess neutrophil recruitment to injured tissue a thousand times more potently than sialyl Lewis X /159/. Korean red ginseng saponins and oleanolic acid bisdesmosides had anti-complement activity which can suppress the inflammatory response /160,161/. Structure-activity comparisons of ginsenosides showed that the anti-complement activity varied with the sugar moiety at C-6, i.e. glucosyl \(\graphi\) glucosyl-glucosyl > glucosyl-rhamnosyl, and at C-20, hydroxyl > glucosyl = glucosyl-arabinosyl > glucosyl-glucosyl /160/.

12. CONCLUDING REMARKS

As the above survey indicates, saponins are bioactive compounds of considerable potential. Much, however, remains to be learned about their mechanism of action and structure-activity relationships. Research to date has used predominantly animal or *in vitro* models. There remains a dearth of human data, due, in part, to the difficulty of isolating large quantities of relatively pure saponin preparations. Nonetheless, as promising data continue to be assembled from both *in vitro* and animal models, clinical trials will hopefully be undertaken, enhancing our understanding of the role of saponins in human health.

REFERENCES

- Rao AV, Gurfinkel DM. Dietary saponins and human health. In: Oleszek W, Marston A, eds. Saponins in Food, Feedstuffs and Medicinal Plants. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2000; 255-270.
- Ridout CI, Price WKR, Johnson IT, Fenwick GR. U.K. mean daily intake of saponins: intestine-permeabilizing factors in legumes. Food Sci Nutr 1988; 42F: 111-116.
- 3. Hostettman K, Marston A. Saponins. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1995.
- Sauvaire Y, Ribes G, Boccou JC, Loubatieeres-Mariani MM. Implication of steroid saponins and sapogenins in the hypocholesterolemic effect of fenugreek. Lipids 1991; 26: 191-197.
- 5. Karikura M, Miyase T, Tanizawa H, Takino Y, Taniyama T, Hayasi T. Studies in absorption, distribution, excretion, and metabolism of ginseng saponins. V. The decomposition products of geinsenoside Rb2 in the large intestine of rats. Chem Pharm Bull 1990; 38: 2859-2861.
- 6. Hasegawa H, Sung JH, Matsumiya S, Uchiyama M. Main ginseng saponin metabolites formed by intestinal bacteria. Planta Med 1996; 62: 453-457.
- Purmova J, Opletal L. Phytotherapeutic aspects of diseases of the cardiovascular system.
 Saponins and possibilities of their use in prevention and therapy. Ceska Slov Farm 1995; 44: 246-251.
- 8. Amarowicz R, Shimoyamada M, Okubo K. Hypocholesterolemic effects of saponins. Rocz Panstw Zakl Hig 1994; 45: 125-130.
- 9. Milgate J, Roberts DCK. Nutritional and biological significance of saponins. Nutr Res 1995; 15: 1223-1249.
- Petit PR, Sauvaire YD, Hillaire-Buys DM, et al. Steroid saponins from fenugreek seeds: extraction, purification, and pharmacological investigation on feeding behavior and plasma cholesterol. Steroids 1995; 60: 674-680.

- 11. Venugopalan C, Srivastava LN. Hypocholesterolemic activity of saponin on cholesterol added *Bengalgram* (*Cicer arietinum*) diet in rats. J Food Sci Technol 1996; 33: 386-392.
- Jenkins KJ, Atwal AS. Effects of dietary saponins on fecal bile acids and neutral sterols and availability of vitamins A and E in the chick. J Nutr Biochem 1994; 5: 134-137.
- Nakamura Y, Tsumura Y, Tonogai Y, Shibata T. Fecal steroid excretion is increased in rats by oral administration of gymnemic acids contained in Gymnema sylvestre leaves. J Nutr 1999; 129: 1214-1222.
- 14. Harwood HJ Jr, Chandler CE, Pellarin LD, et al. Pharmacologic consequences of cholesterol absorption inhibition: alteration in cholesterol concentration induced by the synthetic saponin beta-tigogenin cellobioside (CP-88818; tiqueside). J Lipid Res 1993; 34: 377-395.
- 15. Harris WS, Dujovne CA, Windsor SL, et al. Inhibiting cholesterol absorption with CP-88,818 (beta-tigogenin cellobioside; tiqueside): studies in normal and hyperlipidemic subjects. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1997; 30: 55-60.
- DeNinno MP, McCarthy PA, Duplantier KC, et al. Steroidal glycoside cholesterol absorption inhibitors. J Med Chem 1997; 40: 2547-2554.
- 17. Morehouse LA, Bangerteer FW, DeNinno MP, et al. Comparison of synthetic saponin cholesterol absorption inhibitors in rabbits: evidence for a non-stoichiometric, intestinal mechanism of action. J Lipid Res 1999; 40: 464-474.
- 18. Chen XC, Xia L, Hu S, Huang G. Inhibitiory effects of *Acanthopanax gracilistylus* saponins in human platelet aggregation and platelet factor 4 liberation in vitro. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1996; 17: 523-526.
- 19. Peng JP, Yao XS. 19 new steroidal saponins from *Allium* plants: isolation, structural elucidation and effect on blood coagulability. Adv Exp Med Biol 1996; 404: 511-526.
- Zhang WJ, Wojta J, Binder BR. Effect of notoginsenoside R1 on the synthesis
 of components of the fibrinolytic system in cultured smooth muscle cells of
 human pulmonary artery. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le grand) 1997; 43: 581-587.
- 21. Jung KY, Kim DS, Oh SR, et al. Platelet activating factor antagonist activity of ginsenosides. Biol Pharm Bull 1998; 21: 79-80.
- 22. Peng WD. Hypotensive effect of tenuifolic saponin and its mechanism. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1999; 220: 639-642.
- 23. Sagesaka-Mitane Y, Sugiura T, Miwa Y, et al. Effect of tea-leaf saponin on blood pressure of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Yakugaku Zasshi 1996; 116: 388-395.
- Kang SY, Schini-Kerth VB, Kim ND. Ginsenosides of the protopanaxatriol group cause endothelium-dependent relaxation in the rat aorta. Life Sci 1995; 56: 1577-1586.
- 25. Kim ND, Kang SY, Park JH, Schini-Kerth VB. Ginsenoside Rg3 mediates endothelium-dependent relaxation in response to ginsenosides in rat aorta: role of K⁺ channels. Eur J Pharmacol 1999; 367: 41-49.
- Zhong GG, Jiang Y, Wang XQ, Yue G. Effects of panaxadiol and panaxatriol saponins on action of normal and xanthine-xanthine oxidase damaged cultured myocardial cells. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1991; 12: 256-260.

- Lin SG, Zheng XL, Chen QY, Sun JJ. Effect of *Panax notoginseng* saponins on increased proliferation of cultured aortic smooth muscle cells stimulated by hypercholesterolemic serum. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1993; 14: 314-316.
- 28. Wu W, Zhang XM, Liu PM, et al. Effects of *Panax notoginseng* saponin Rgl on cardiac electrophysiological properties and ventricular fibrillation threshold in dogs. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1995; 16: 459-463.
- 29. Chen JQ, Zhang YG, Xiong C, et al. Effects of *Panax notoginseng* saponins on monophasic action potentials of heart and automaticity and contractility of isolated atria. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1992; 13: 538-540.
- 30. Li J, Huang M, Teoh H, Man RY. *Panax quinquefolium* saponins protects low density lipoproteins from oxidation. Life Sci 1999; 64: 53-62.
- Rao AV, Koratkar R. Anticarcinogenic effects of saponins and phytosterols.
 In: Shahidi F, ed. Antinutrients and Phytochemicals in Food. Washington, DC: American Chemical Society, 1997; 313-324.
- 32. De Tommasi N, Autore G, Bellino A, et al. Antiproliferative triterpene saponins from *Trevesia palmata*. J Nat Prod 2000; 63: 308-314.
- 33. Konoshima T, Tasasaki M, Tokuda H, et al. Anti-tumor-promoting activity of majonoside-R2 from Vietnamese ginseng, *Panax vienamensis*. Ha et Grushv. Biol Pharm Bull 1998; 21: 834-838.
- 34. Konoshima T. Anti-tumor-promoting activities of triterpenoid glycosides; cancer chemoprevention by saponins. Adv Exp Med Biol 1996; 404: 87-100.
- 35. Sung MK, Kendall CW, Koo MM, Rao AV. Effect of soybean saponins and *Gypsophila* saponin on growth and viability of colon carcinoma cells in culture. Nutr Cancer 1995; 23: 259-270.
- 36. Sung MK, Kendall CW, Rao AV. Effect of soybean saponins and *Gypsophila* saponin on morphology of colon carcinoma cells in culture. Food Chem Toxicol 1995; 33: 357-366.
- 37. Koratkar R, Rao AV. Effect of soy bean saponin on azoxymethane-induced preneoplastic lesions in the colon of mice. Nutr Cancer 1997; 27: 206-209.
- 38. Quetin-Leclercq J, Elias R. Balansard G, et al. Cytotoxic activity of some triterpenoid saponins. Planta Med 1992; 58: 279-281.
- 39. Bader G, Plohmann B, Hiller K, Franz G. Cytotoxicity of triterpenoid saponins. Part 1: Activities against tumor cells in vitro and hemolytical index. Pharmazie 1996; 51: 414-417.
- 40. Nishino H. Antitumor-promoting activity of glycyrrhetinic acid and its related compounds. In: Wattenberg L, Lipkin M, Boone CW, Kelloff GJ, eds. Cancer Chemoprevention. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 1992; 457-467.
- Itabashi M, Segawa K, Ikeda Y, et al. A new bioactive steroidal saponin, furcreastatin, from the plant Furcraea foetida. Carbohydr Res 2000; 323: 57-62.
- 42. Hu K, Dong A, Yao X, et al. Antineoplastic agents; 1. Three spirostanol glycosides from rhizomes of *Dioscorea collettii var. hypoglauca*. Planta Med 1996; 62: 573-575.

- 43. Mimaki Y, Kuroda M, Kameyama A, et al. Steroidal saponins from the rhizomes of *Hosta sieboldii* and their cytostatic activity on HL-60 cells. Phytochemistry 1998; 48: 1361-1369.
- 44. Mimaki Y, Kuroda M, Kamayama A, et al. Steroidal saponins from the underground parts of *Rucus aculeatus* and their cytostatic activity on HL-60 cells. Phytochemistry 1998; 48: 485-493.
- 45. Shao Y, Poobrasert O, Kennelly RE, et al. Steroidal saponins from *Asparagus officinalis* and their cytotoxic activity. Planta Med 1997; 63: 258-262.
- 46. Yu L, Ma R, Yu T. Induction of morphological and functional differentiation of human promyelocytic leukemia cells (HL-60) by Tubeimoside 1. Planta Med 1996; 62: 119-121.
- 47. Mimaki Y, Kanmoto T, Kuroda M, et al. Steroidal saponins from *Hosta longipes* and their inhibitory activity on tumour promoter-induced phospholipid metabolism of HeLa cells. Phytochemistry 1996; 42: 1065-1070.
- 48. Mimaki Y, Kanmoto T, Sashida Y, et al. Steroidal saponins from the underground parts of *Chlorophytum comosum* and their inhibitory activity on tumour promoter-induced phospholipids metabolism of HeLa cells. Phytochemistry 1996; 41: 1405-1410.
- 49. Mimaki Y, Nakumura O, Sashida Y, et al. Structures of steroidal saponins from the tubers of *Brodiaea californica* and their inhibitory activity on tumor promoter-induced phospholipid metabolism. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1995; 43: 971-976.
- 50. Mimaki Y, Nakamura O, Sashida Y, et al. Steroidal saponins from the bulbs of *Lilium longiflorum* and their antitumour-promoter activity. Phytochemistry 1994; 37: 227-232.
- 51. Inoue T, Mimaki Y, Sashida Y, Nishino A, et al. Steroidal glycosides from *Allium Macleanii* and *A. senescens*, and their inhibitory activity on tumour promoter-induced phospholipid metabolism of HeLa cells. Phytochemistry 1995; 40: 521-525.
- 52. Mimaki Y, Sashida Y, Kuroda M, et al. Inhibitory effects of steroidal saponins on 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA)-enhanced ³²P-incorporation into phospholipids of HeLa cells and proliferation of human malignant tumor cells. Biol Pharm Bull 1995; 18: 467-469.
- 53. Nakata H, Kikuchi Y, Tode T, et al. Inhibitory effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on tumor growth in nude mice bearing human ovarian cancer cells. Jpn J Cancer Res 1998; 89: 733-740.
- 54. Wakabayashi C, Hasegawa H, Murata J, Saiki I. In vivo antimetastatic action of ginseng protopanaxdiol saponins is based on their intestinal bacterial metabolites after oral administration. Oncol Res 1997; 9: 411-417.
- 55. Lee SJ, Sung JH, Lee SJ, et al. Antitumour activity of a novel ginseng saponin metabolite in human pulmonary adenocarcinoma cells resistant to cisplatin. Cancer Lett 1999; 144: 39-43.
- 56. Byun BH, Shin I, Yoon YS, et al. Modulation of protein kinase C activity in NIH 3T3 cells by plant glycosides from *Panax ginseng*. Planta Med 1997; 63: 389-392.

- Lee YN, Lee HY, Lee YM, et al. Involvement of glucocorticoid receptor in the induction of differentiation by ginsenosides in F9 teratocarcinoma cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1998; 67: 105-111.
- 58. Kim YS, Kim DS, Kim SI. Ginsenoside Rh2 and Rh3 induce differentiation of HL-60 cells into granulocytes: modulation of protein kinase C isoforms during differentiation by ginsenoside Rh2. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1998; 30: 327-338.
- 59. Lee KY, Lee YH, Kim SI, et al. Ginsenoside-Rg5 suppresses cyclin E-dependent protein kinase activity via up-regulating p21Cip/WAF1 and down-regulating cyclin E in SK-HEP-1 cells. Anticancer Res 1997; 17: 1067-1072.
- 60. Lee KY, Park JA, Chung E, et al. Ginsenoside-Rh2 blocks the cell cycle of SK-HEP-1 cells as the G1/S boundary by selectively inducing the protein expression of p27kip1. Cancer Lett 1996; 110: 193-200.
- 61. Oh M, Choi YH, Choi S, et al. Anti-proliferating effects of ginsenoside Rh2 on MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Int J Oncol 1999; 14: 869-875.
- 62. Ota T, Maeda M, Odashima S, et al. G1 phase-specific suppression of the Cdk2 activity by ginsenoside Rh2 in cultured murine cells. Life Sci 1997; 60: PL39-44.
- 63. Kim SE, Lee YH, Park JH, Lee SK. Ginsenoside-Rs4, a new type of ginseng saponin concurrently induces apoptosis and selectively elevates protein levels of p53 and p21WAF1 in human hepatoma SK-HEP-1 cells. Eur J Cancer 1999; 35: 507-511.
- 64. Kim SE, Lee YH, Park JH, Lee SK. Ginsenoside-Rs3, a new diol-type ginseng saponin, selectively elevates protein levels of p53 and p21WAF1 leading to induction of apoptosis in SK-HEP-1 cells. Anticancer Res 1999; 19: 487-491.
- 65. Park JA, Lee KY, Oh YJ, et al. Activation of caspase-3 protease via a Bcl-2-insensitive pathway during the process of ginsenside Rh-2-induced apoptosis. Cancer Lett 1997; 121: 73-81.
- 66. Kim HE, Oh JH, Lee SK, Oh YJ. Ginsenoside Rh-2 induces apoptotic cell death in rat C6 glioma via a reactive oxygen- and caspase-dependent but Bcl-X(L)-independent pathway. Life Sci 1999; 65: PL33-40.
- 67. Mochizuki M, Yoo YC, Matsuzawa K, et al. Inhibitory effect of tumour metastasis in mice by saponins, ginsenoside-Rb2, 20(R)- and 20(S)-ginsenoside-Rg3, of red ginseng. Biol Pharm Bull 1995; 18: 1197-1202.
- 68. Shinkai K, Akedo H, Mukai M, et al. Inhibition of in vitro tumor cell invasion by ginsenoside Rg3. Jpn J Cancer Res 1996; 87: 357-362.
- 69. Iishi H, Tatsura M, Baba M, et al. Inhibition by ginsenoside Rg3 of bombesinenhanced peritoneal metastasis of intestinal adenocarcinomas induced by azoxymethane in Wistar rats. Clin Exp Metastasis 1997; 15: 603-611.
- 70. Hasegawa H, Uchiyama M. Antimetastatic efficacy of orally administered ginsenoside Rb1 in dependence on intestinal bacterial hydrolyzing potential and significance of treatment with an active bacterial metabolite. Planta Med 1998; 64: 696-700.
- 71. Amara-Mokrane YA, Lehucher-Michel MP, Balansard G, et al. Protective effects of alpha-hederin, chlorophyllin and ascorbic acid towards the induction

- of micronuclei by doxorubicin cultured human lymphocytes. Mutagenesis 1996; 11: 161-167.
- Lee BH, Lee SJ, Hui JH, et al. In vitro antigenotoxic activity of novel ginseng saponin metabolites formed in intestinal bacteria. Planta Med 1998; 64: 500-503.
- 73. Ohtsuka M, Fukuda K, Yano H, Kojiro M. Effects of nine active ingredients in Chinese herbal medicine sho-saiko-to on 2-(2-furyl)-3-(5-nitro-2-furyl)acrylamide mutagenicity. Jpn J Cancer Res 1995; 86: 1131-1135.
- 74. Berhow MA, Wagner ED, Vaughn SF, Plewa MJ. Characterization and antimutagenic activity of soybean saponins. Mutat Res 2000; 448: 11-22.
- 75. Jeong TC, Kim HJ, Park JI, et al. Protective effects of red ginseng saponins against carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatotoxicity in Sprague Dawley rats. Planta Med 1997; 63: 136-140.
- 76. Matsuda H, Samukawa K, Kubo M. Anti-hepatic activity of ginsenoside Ro. Planta Med 1991; 57: 523-526.
- 77. Arao T, Udayama M, Kinjo J, et al. Preventive effects of saponins from puerariae radix (the root of *Pueraria lobata* Ohwi) on in vitro immunological injury of rat primary hepatocyte cultures. Biol Pharm Bull 1997; 20: 988-991.
- 78. Miyao H, Arao T, Udayama M, et al. Kaikasaponin III and soyasaponin I, major triterpene saponins of *Abrus cantoniensis*, act on GOT and GPT: influence on transaminase elevation of rat liver cells concomitantly exposed to carbon tetrachloride for one hour. Planta Med 1998; 64: 5-7.
- 79. Yoshikawa M, Murakami T, Yashiro K, et al. Bioactive saponins and glycosides. XI. Structures of new dammarane-type triterpene oligoglycosides, quinquenosides I, II, III, IV, and V, from American ginseng, the roots of *Panax quinquefolium* L. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1998; 46: 647-654.
- 80. Yoshikawa M, Murakami T, Ueno T, et al. Bioactive saponins and glycosides. VIII. Notoginseng (1): new dammarane-type triterpene oligoglycosides, notoginsenosides -A, -B, -C, and -D, from dried root of *Panax notoginseng* (Burk.) F.H. Chen. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1997; 45: 1039-1045.
- Kinjo J, Aoki K, Okawa M, et al. HPLC profile analysis of hepatoprotective oleanene-glucuronides in Puerariae Flos. Chem Pharm Bull 1999; 47: 708-710
- 82. Kinjo J, Udayama M, Okawa M, Nohara T. Study of structure-hepatoprotective relationships of oleanene-type triterpenoidal glucuronides obtained from several fabaceous plants on rat primary hepatocyte cultures. Biol Pharm Bull 1999; 22: 203-206.
- 83. Udayama M, Ohkawa M, Yoshida N, et al. Structures of three new oleanene glucuronides isolated from *Lathyrus palustris var. pilosus* and hepatoprotective activity. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1998; 46: 1412-1415.
- 84. Kinjo J, Imagire M, Udayama M, et al. Structure-hepatoprotective relationships study of soyasaponins I-IV having soyasapogenol B as aglycone. Planta Med 1998; 64: 233-236.
- 85. Ikeda T, Udayama M, Okawa M, et al. Partial hydrolysis of soyasaponin I and the hepatoprotective effects of the hydrolytic products. Study of the structure-

- hepatoprotective relationship of soyasapogenol B analogs. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1998; 46: 359-361.
- 86. Liu YP, Liu J. Effect of alpha-hederin on hepatic detoxifying systems in mice. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1997; 18: 33-36.
- Jeong HG. Suppression of constitutive and inducible cytochrome P450 gene expression by alpha-hederin in mice. Biochem Mol Biol Int 1998; 46: 1019-1026.
- 88. Jeong HG, Park HY. The prevention of carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatotoxicity in mice by alpha-hederin: inhibition of cytochrome P450 2E1 expression. Biochem Mol Biol Int 1998; 45: 163-170.
- 89. Liu J, Liu Y, Bullock P, Klaassen CD. Suppression of liver cytochrome P450 by alpha-hederin: relevance to hepatoprotection. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1995; 134: 124-131.
- Shi JZ, Liu GT. Effect of alpha-hederin and sapindoside B on hepatic microsomal cytochrome P-450 in mice. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1996; 17: 264-266.
- 91. Henderson GL, Harkey MR, Gershwin ME, et al. Effects of ginseng components on c-DNA-expressed cytochrome P450 enzyme catalytic activity. Life Sci 1999; 65: PL209-214.
- 92. Kuong DD, Dovgii AI, Adrianov NV, et al. Induction of cytochrome P-450 by triterpensaponins in Vietnamese ginseng. Biokhimiia 1991; 56: 707-713.
- 93. Kim DH, Yu KW, Bae EA, et al. Metabolism of kalopanaxsaponin B and H by human intestinal bacteria and antidiabetic activity of their metabolites. Biol Pharm Bull 1998; 21: 360-365.
- 94. Yoshikawa M, Shimada H, Morikawa T, et al. Medicinal foodstuffs. VII. On the saponin constituents with glucose and alcohol absorption-inhibitory activity from a food garnish "Tonburi," the fruit of Japanese Kochia scoparia (L.) Schrad.: structures of scoparianosides A, B. and C. Chem Pharm Bull (Tovko) 1997; 45: 1300-1305.
- 95. Murakami N, Murakami T, Kadoya M, et al. New hypoglycemic constituents in "gymnemic acid" from *Gymnema sylvestre*. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1996; 44: 469-471.
- 96. Yoshikawa M, Murakami T, Matsuda H. Medicinal foodstuffs. X. Structures of new triterpene glycosides, gymnemosides-c, -d, -e, and -f, from the leaves of *Gymnema sylvestre* R. Br.: influence of gymnema glycosides on glucose uptake in rat small intestinal fragments. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1997; 45: 2034-2038.
- 97. Shimizu K, Ozeki M, Tanaka K, et al. Suppression of glucose absorption by extracts from the leaves of *Gymnema inodorum*. J Vet Med Sci 1997; 59: 753-757.
- 98. Yoshikawa M, Murakami T, Kadoya M, et al. Medicinal foodstuffs. III. Sugar beet. (1): Hypoglycemic oleanolic acid oligoglycosides, betavulgarosides I, II, III, and IV, from the root of *Beta vulgaris* L. (Chenopodiaceae). Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1996; 44: 1212-1217.
- 99. Yoshikawa M, Murakami T, Ueno T, et al Bioactive saponins and glycosides. I. Senegae radix. (1): E-senegasaponins a and b and Z-senegasaponins a and b,

- their inhibitory effect on alcohol absorption and hypoglycemic activity. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1995; 43: 2115-2122.
- 100. Yoshikawa M, Murakami T, Matsuda H, et al. Bioactive saponins and glycosides. II. Senegae Radix. (2): Chemical structures, hypoglycemic activity, and ethanol absorption-inhibitory effect of E-senegasaponin c, Z-senegasaponin c, and Z-senegins II, III, and IV. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1996; 44: 1305-1313.
- 101. Yoshikawa M, Yoshizumi S, Ueno T, et al. Medicinal foodstuffs. I. Hypoglycemic constituents from a garnish foodstuff "taranome," the young shoot of *Aralia elata* Seem.: elatosides G, H, I, J, and K. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1995; 43: 1878-1882.
- 102. Yoshikawa M, Matsuda H, Harada E, et al. Elatoside E, a new hypoglycemic principle from the root cortex of *Aralia elata* Seem.: structure-related hypoglycemic activity of oleanolic acid glycosides. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1994; 42: 1354-1356.
- 103. Yoshikawa M, Murakami T, Harada E, et al. Bioactive saponins and glycosides. VII. On the hypoglycemic principles from the root cortex of *Aralia elata* Seem.: structure related hypoglycemic activity of oleanolic acid oligoglycoside. Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo) 1996; 44: 1923-1927.
- 104. Sui DY, Lu ZZ, Li SH, Cai Y. Hypoglycemic effect of saponin isolated from leaves of *Acanthopanax senticosus* (Rupr. et Maxin.) Harms. Chung Kuo Chung Yao Tsa Chih 1994; 19: 683-685, 703.
- 105. Kato A, Miura T, Fukunaga T. Effects of steroidal glycosides on blood glucose in normal and diabetic mice. Biol Pharm Bull 1995; 18: 167-168.
- 106. Yoshikawa M, Harada E, Murakami T, et al. Escins-Ia, Ib, IIa, IIb, and IIIa, bioactive triterpene oligoglycosides from the seeds of *Aesculus hippocastanum* L.: their inhibitory effects on ethanol absorption and hypoglycemic activity on glucose tolerance test. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1994; 42: 1357-1359.
- 107. Yoshikawa M, Murakami T, Matsuda H, et al. Bioactive saponins and glycosides. III. Horse chestnut. (1): The structures, inhibitory effects on ethanol absorption, and hypoglycemic activity of escins la, lb, IIa, IIb, and IIIa from the seeds of Aesculus hippocastanum L. Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo) 1996; 44: 1454-1464.
- 108. Glombitza KW, Mahran GH, Mirhom YW, et al. Hypoglycemic and antihyperglycemic effects of *Zizyphus spinachrisri* in rats. Planta Med 1994; 60: 244-247.
- 109. Nakashima N, Kimura I, Kimura M, Matsuura H. Isolation of pseudoprototimosaponin AlII from rhizomes of *Anemarrhena asphodeloides* and its hypoglycemic activity in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. J Nat Prod 1993; 56: 345-350.
- 110. Hasegawa H, Matsumiya S, Murakami C, et al. Interactions of ginseng extract, ginseng separated fractions, and some triterpenoid saponins with glucose transporters in sheep erythrocytes. Planta Med 1994; 60: 153-157.
- 111. Hasegawa H, Matsumiya S, Uchiyama M, et al. Inhibitory effect of some triterpenoid saponins on glucose transport in tumor cells and its application to in vitro cytotoxic and antiviral activities. Planta Med 1994; 60: 240-243.

- 112. Matsuda H, Murakami T, Li Y, et al. Mode of action of escins la and IIa and E,Z-senegin II on glucose absorption in gastrointestinal tract. Bioorg Med Chem 1998; 6: 1019-1023.
- 113. Matsuda H, Li Y, Yoshikawa M. Roles of endogenous prostaglandins and nitric oxide in inhibitions of gastric emptying and accelerations of gastrointestinal transit by escins Ia, Ib, IIa, and IIb in mice. Life Sci 2000; 66: PL41-46
- 114. Arai I, Komatsu Y, Hirai Y, et al. Stimulative effects of saponin from kikyo-to, a Japanese herbal medicine, on pancreatic exocrine secretion of conscious rats. Planta Med 1997; 63: 419-424.
- 115. Sjolander A, Cox JC, Barr IG. ISCOMs: an adjuvant with multiple functions. J Leukocyte Biol 1998; 64: 713-723.
- 116. Kensil CR, Wu JY, Anderson CA, et al. QS-21 and QS-7: purified saponin adjuvants. Dev Biol Stand 1998; 92: 41-47.
- 117. Behboudi S, Morein B, Villacres-Eriksson MC. Quillaja saponin formulations that stimulate proinflammatory cytokines elicit a potent acquired cell-mediated immunity. Scand J Immunol 1999; 50: 371-377.
- 118. Hayashi K, Hayashi H, Hiraoka N, Ikeshiro Y. Inhibitory activity of soyasaponin II on virus replication in vitro. Planta Med 1997: 63: 102-105.
- 119. Yu LJ, Ma RD, Jiang SB. Effects of tubeimoside-1 on HIV core protein p24 and cytopathogenesis in vitro. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1994; 15: 103-106
- 120. Konoshima T, Yasuda I, Kashiwada Y, et al. Anti-AIDS agents, 21. Triterpenoid saponins as anti-HIV principles from fruits of *Gleditsia japonica* and *Gymnocladus chinensis*, and structure-activity correlation. J Nat Prod 1995; 58: 1372-1377.
- 121. De Tommasi N, Conti C, Stein ML, Pizza C. Structure and in vitro antiviral activity of triterpenoid saponins from *Calendula arvensis*. Planta Med 1991; 57: 250-253.
- 122. Hayashi K, Sagesaka YM, Suzuki T, Suzuki Y. Inactivation of human type A and B influenza viruses by tea-seed saponins. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 2000; 64: 184-186.
- 123. Uemura T, Sagesaka YM, Oku N, Okada S. Activation of retinoic acid (RA)-differentiated HL-60 cells by saponins. Yakugaku Zasshi 1995; 115: 528-536.
- 124. Kaname N, Zhang J, Meng Z, et al. Effect of timosaponin E1 and E2 on superoxide generation induced by various stimuli in human neutrophils and on platelet aggregation in human blood. Clin Chim Acta 2000; 295: 129-140.
- 125. Yoshikawa M, Murakami T, Ueda T, et al. Bioactive saponins and glycosides: IV. Four methyl-migrated 16,17-seco-dammarane triterpene glycosides from Chinese natural medicine, hoveniae semen seu fructus, the seeds and fruit of *Hovenia dulcis* Thunb.: absolute stereostructures and inhibitory activity on histamine release of hovenidulciosides A1, A2, B1, and B2. Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo) 1996; 44: 1736-1743.
- 126. Yoshikawa M, Murakami T, Ikebata A, et al. Bioactive saponins and glycosides. X. On the constituents of zizyphi spinosi semen, seeds of Zizyphus jujuba Mill. var. spinosa Hu (1): structures and histamine release-inhibitory

- effect of jujubosides A1 and C and acetyljujuboside B. Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo) 1997; 45: 1186-1192.
- 127. Yoshikawa M, Shimada H, Komatsu H, et al. Medicinal foodstuffs. VI. Histamine release inhibitors from kidney bean, the seeds of *Phaseolus vulgaaris* L.: chemical structures of sandosaponins A and B. Chem Pharm Bull (Toyko) 1997; 45: 877-882.
- 128. Akagi M, Fukuishi N, Kan T, et al. Anti-allergic effect of tea-leaf saponin (TLS) from tea leaves (*Camellia sinensis var. sinensis*). Biol Pharm Bull 1997; 20: 565-567.
- 129. Yamaguchi Y, Higashi M, Kobayashi H. Effects of ginsenosides on maze performance and brain choline acetyltransferase activity in scopolamine-treated young rats and aged rats. Eur J Pharmacol 1997; 329: 37-41.
- 130. Jin SH, Park JK, Nam KY, et al. Korean red ginseng saponins with low ratios of protopanaxadiol and protopanaxatriol saponin improve scopolamine-induced learning disability and spatial working memory in mice. J Ethnopharmacol 1999; 66: 123-129.
- 131. Benishin CG, Lee R, Wang LC, Liu HJ. Effects of ginsenoside Rb1 on central cholinergic metabolism. Pharmacology 1991; 42: 223-229.
- 132. Huong NT, Matsumoto K, Yamasaki K, et al. Majonoside-R2, a major constituent of Vietnamese ginseng, attenuates opioid-induced antinociception. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1997; 57: 285-291.
- 133. Huong NT, Matsumoto K, Watanabe H. The anti-stress effect of majonoside-R2, a major saponin component of Vietnamese ginseng: neuronal mechanisms of action. Meth Find Exp Clin Pharmacol 1998; 20: 65-76.
- 134. Kim HS, Hong YT, Jang CG. Effects of the ginsenosides Rg1 and Rb1 on morphine-induced hyperactivity and reinforcement in mice. J Pharm Pharmacol 1998; 50: 555-560.
- 135. Kim HS, Hong YT, Oh KW, et al. Inhibition by ginsenosides Rb1 and Rg1 of methamphetamine-induced hyperactivity, conditioned place preference and postsynaptic dopamine receptor supersensitivity in mice. Gen Pharmacol 1998; 30: 783-789.
- 136. Kin HS, Kim KS. Inhibitory effects of ginseng total saponin on nicotine-induced hyperactivity, reverse tolerance and dopamine receptor super-sensitivity. Behav Brain Res 1999; 103: 55-61.
- 137. Zhang YG, Liu TP. Influences of ginsenosides Rb1 and Rg1 on reversible focal brain ischemia in rats. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1996; 17: 44-48.
- 138. Wen TC, Yoshimura H, Matsuda S, et al. Ginseng root prevents learning disability and neuronal loss in gerbils with 5-minute forebrain ischemia. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 1996; 91: 15-22.
- 139. Li J, Zhang J. Inhibition of apoptosis by ginsenoside Rg1 in cultured cortical neurons. Chin Med J (Engl) 1997; 110: 535-539.
- 140. Okamura N, Kobayashi K, Akaike A, Yagi A. Protective effect of ginseng saponins against impaired brain growth in neonatal rats exposed to ethanol. Biol Pharm Bull 1994; 17: 270-274.

- 141. Yoshiki Y, Kudou S, Okubo K. Relationship between chemical structures and biological activities of triterpenoid saponins from soybean. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 1998; 62: 2291-2299.
- 142. Yoshikoshi M, Yoshiki Y, Yoshiki Y, et al. Prevention of hydrogen peroxide damage by soybean saponins to mouse fibroblasts. Planta Med 1996; 62: 252-255.
- 143. Jiang Y, Zhong GG, Qi H, Ma XY. Antioxidative action of soyasaponin monomers I, A1, A2, and their inhibitory effects on action potential and beating of myocardiocytes in culture. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1993; 14: 269-273.
- 144. Mba Gachou C, Laget M, Guiraud-Dauriac H, et al. The protective activity of alpha-hederine against hydrogen peroxide genotoxicity in HepG2 cells by alkaline comet assay. Mutat Res 1999; 445: 9-20.
- 145. Mei B, Wang YF, Wu JX, Chen WZ. Protective effects of ginsenosides on oxygen free radical induced damages of cultured vascular endothelial cells in vitro. Yao Hsueh Hsueh Pao 1994; 29: 801-808.
- 146. Jiang Y, Liu W, Wang XM, et al. Calcium channel blockade and anti-free-radical actions of panaxatriol saponins in cultured myocardiocytes. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1996; 17: 138-141.
- 147. Wang ZF, Xiao JS, Yan SZ, Wan ZB. Protective effects of panaxadiol saponins on cardiac functions in burned rats. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1995;16: 345-348.
- 148. Liu K, Abe T, Sekine S, et al. Experimental study on the scavenging effects of ginsenosides on oxygen free radicals using model of heterotopic heart transplantation in rats. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1998; 4: 188-191.
- 149. Chang MS, Lee SG, Rho HM. Transcriptional activation of Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase and catalase genes by panaxadiol ginsenosides extracted from *Panax ginseng*. Phytother Res 1999; 13: 641-644.
- 150. Kim YH, Park KH, Rho HM. Transcriptional activation of the Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase gene through the AP2 site by ginsenoside Rb2 extracted from a medicinal plant, *Panax ginseng*. J Biol Chem 1996; 271: 24539-24543.
- 151. Deng HL, Zhang JT. Anti-lipid peroxidative effect of ginsenoside Rb1 and Rg1. Chin Med J (Engl) 1991; 104: 395-398.
- 152. Safayhi H, Sailer ER. Anti-inflammatory actions of pentacyclic triterpenes. Planta Med 1997; 63: 487-493.
- 153. Kim SY, Son KH, Chang HW, et al. Inhibition of mouse ear edema by steroidal and triterpenoid saponins. Arch Pharm Res 1999; 22: 313-316.
- 154. Matsuda H, Li Y, Murakami T, et al. Effects of escins Ia, Ib, IIa, and IIb from horse chestnut, the seeds of *Aesculus hippocastanum* L., on acute inflammation in animals. Biol Pharm Bull 1997; 20: 1092-1095.
- 155. Alaoui K, Lagorce JF, Cherrah Y, et al. Analgesic and anti-inflammatory activity of saponins of *Argania spinoza*. Ann Pharm Fr 1998; 56: 220-228.
- 156. Bermejo Benito P, Abad Martinez MJ, Silvan Sen AM, et al. In vivo and in vitro anti-inflammatory activity of saikosaponins. Life Sci 1998; 63: 1147-1156.

- 157. Sagesaka YM, Uemura T, Suzuki Y, et al. Antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory actions of tea-leaf saponin. Yakugaku Zassi 1996; 116: 238-243.
- 158. Li SH, Chu Y. Anti-inflammatory effects of total saponins of *Panax noto-ginseng*. Chung Kuo Yao Li Hsueh Pao 1999; 20: 551-554.
- 159. Ida Y, Satoh Y, Katsumata M, et al. Two novel oleanolic acid saponins having a sialyl Lewis X mimetic structure from *Achyranthes fauriei* root. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 1998; 8: 2555-2558.
- 160. Kim DS, Oh SR, Lee IS, et al. Anticomplementary activity of ginseng saponins and their degradation products. Phytochemistry 1998; 47: 397-399.
- 161. Park SH, Oh SR, Jung KY, et al. Anticomplement activities of oleanolic acid monodesmosides and bisdesmosides isolated from *Tiarella polyphylla*. Arch Pharm Res 1999; 22: 428-431.